## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### PAUL DAVID GRAVES

V.

APPELLANT

NO. 2009-KA-0282-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

## CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. State of Mississippi
- 2. Paul David Graves, Appellant
- 3. Honorable Cono Caranna, District Attorney
- 4. Honorable Roger T. Clark, Circuit Court Judge

This the 15<sup>h</sup> day of \_\_\_\_\_, 2009.

Respectfully Submitted,

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

## I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL FOLLOWING DWANINIA SPANN'S EMOTIONAL TESTIMONY.

# II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT THE MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

## III. THE TRIAL COURT DEPRIVED GRAVES OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FUNDAMENTALLY FAIR TRIAL BY EXCLUDING TESTIMONY OF AC'S PRIOR INCARCERATION, AS THE DEFENSE WAS UNABLE TO FULLY DEVELOP ITS THEORY OF DEFENSE.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the First Judicial District of Harrison County Circuit Court in Harrison County, Mississippi. A Harrison County Grand Jury indicted Paul David Graves, Jr. in a two-count indictment for the death of A.C. Graves. The Honorable Roger T. Clark, Circuit Court Judge, presided over the jury trial that was held July 21-23, 2008. The jury rendered a guilty verdict as to the manslaughter charge. The Court sentenced Graves to serve fourteen (14) years in the Mississippi Department of Corrections. Graves is currently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

On July 25, 2008, Graves filed his motion for new trial, or in the alternative, motion for JNOV. The court denied this motion and Graves timely files this appeal.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In late November 2003, several groups of friends traveled from Gulfport, Mississippi to New Orleans, Louisiana, for a night of partying in the city. [Tr. 114] Brothers, Paul and AC Graves, lived with their mother at the same home in Gulfport. [Tr. 144] On that day, however, the brothers traveled separately to New Orleans. [Tr. 114, 238]. Paul Graves, Fred Thompson and Kevin Preston (also referred to as "Fat Fat") traveled to New Orleans together in one vehicle. [Tr. 238] Paul's brother - AC Graves, AC's girlfriend - Dwaninia Spann, AC's son, and several others traveled in a separated entourage. [Tr. 114]

Paul and AC, along with their friends, met each in New Orleans some time that night. [Tr. 238] After AC and Paul's parties met, the group took their partying to a friend's hotel room. [Tr. 115]

Like many of the party- goers, AC consumed a significant amount of alcohol that evening. [Tr. 244, 249-50, 255, 323]. At some point during the night, AC became very angry and belligerent. [Tr. 240, 251, 273]. Eyewitness testimonies varied as to the cause of AC's agitation. [Tr. 123-24, 239-40, 250, 273, 325] Regardless of the cause of AC's anger, AC's fury led him to waive a gun at his brother, Paul, and other men at the gathering in the hotel room.[Tr. 241, 325] Paul did not have a gun. [Tr. 242] According to AC's girlfriend, Spann, AC even put the gun up to Paul's neck and called him a coward. [Tr. 124] Paul and Fred, however, attempted to calm AC down but to no avail. [Tr. 240, 251, 324].

Seeking to avoid a confrontation with AC, Paul decided to leave New Orleans earlier than expected. [Tr. 241] Paul and Fred left the hotel and headed back home to Gulfport, Mississippi. [Tr. 324] Paul and Fred left Kevin in New Orleans with the rest of the party. [Tr. 251]

Kevin, Spann, and AC left New Orleans later on and headed for Gulfport. On the way back home, Kevin provoked AC's anger by reminding him of his earlier confrontation with Paul. [Tr. 126] AC, already heavily intoxicated, rode back to Gulfport with a gun on his lap. [Tr. 252] Although there were gallons of alcohol consumed between the friends in New Orleans, Spann stopped the car on the way to Gulfport so that the men could purchase more alcohol. [Tr. 252]

While on the road, Spann called AC and Paul's mother, Minnie Graves, to alert her that they were on the way back to the house. [Tr. 130, 273] Having arrived earlier, Paul had already informed his mother about AC's behavior in New Orleans. [Tr. 272] Minnie decided to stay awake until AC came home to talk with him. [Tr. 274]

When AC and his companions arrived at the house, Paul could hear the commotion his brother and friends were making from his bedroom. [Tr. 326] While Minnie put on her shoes inside, Paul walked outside to address AC. Paul did not want the brothers' confrontation to disturb their mother. Minnie noticed that Paul did not have a weapon as he walked out of the house. [Tr. 274] Although the prosecution's witnesses testified that Paul walked out of the house angrily, Paul testified that he was calm when he approached AC in the yard. [Tr. 337]

At some point while Paul spoke with AC, the two brothers began to fight. [Tr. 148-49] AC produced a gun and the brothers began to tussle for control of the gun. [Tr. 254] Paul feared that his brother would have to go back to prison if he were caught with the gun. [Tr. 327] AC had been released from prison only weeks before this incident. In addition to fearing his brother's return to

prison, Paul also feared that AC would use the weapon to shoot him. AC previously shot Paul in the leg during a prior altercation between the brothers. [Tr. 308] The bullet remained lodged in Paul's leg, even at the time of trial. [Tr. 340]

There were several witnesses present during the brothers' struggle in front of their mother's home. Clyzell Smith, the Graves' next door neighbor, Dwaninia and Kevin all testified that, at the time of the fighting, they were outside near or in the Graves' front yard. At trial, each witness provided varying accounts of what occurred in the moments prior to and after the brothers started fighting.

According to Paul, as he wrestled with AC for the gun, the gun went off. [Tr. 328] AC received one fatal gunshot wound to the neck. [Tr. 203] After the gun went off, Minnie Graves came outside of the house to investigate the commotion. [Tr. 275] Paul handed his mother the gun. [Tr. 276] Paul informed his mother the shooting was an accident. AC died in the hospital four days later from the single gunshot wound. [Tr. 204]

#### SUMMARY OF THE CASE

On November 30, 2003, Minnie Graves lost two sons. AC Graves was fatally wounded by one bullet to his neck. Paul Graves was later arrested and convicted of manslaughter in AC's death. Witnesses' testimonies and the evidence presented at trial all suggest that this death was nothing more than an accident. The trial court's verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

In addition to this error, several trial court errors also compromised the jury's verdict. At trial, <u>Dwaninia Spann's provided highly emotional testimony</u>. Her outburst could have easily led the jury to base its verdict on her emotional display, rather than the evidence presented at trial.

Finally, the trial court deprived Graves of his fundamental right to a fair trial by limiting his attorney's ability to present his full theory of defense. These errors substantially prejudiced Graves' defense, likewise, the Court should reverse.

#### **ARGUMENTS**

## I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL FOLLOWING DWANINIA SPANN'S EMOTIONAL TESTIMONY.

Dwaninia Spann offered testimony during which Paul Graves' attorney said that she was, "boohooing and crying like a baby." [Tr. 142]. This testimony had the potential to lead the jury to base its verdict on the passion of her testimony rather than the facts that were offered. The trial judge is to declare a mistrial when an error has caused irreparable and substantial damage to the defendant's case. *Tate v. State*, 912 So.2d 919, 932 (¶41) (Miss. 2005); *See also Gossett v. State*, 660 So.2d 1285, 1290-91 (Miss. 1995). When the error is not sufficient to warrant the granting of a mistrial, but is still an error nonetheless, it is the duty of the judge to instruct the jury to disregard the impropriety. *Carpenter v. State*, 910 So.2d 528, 534(¶23) (Miss. 2005); *See also Johnson v. State*, 477 So.2d 196, 210 (Miss. 1985); *Roundtree v. State*, 568 So.2d 1173, 1178 (Miss. 1990).

The right to a fair trial includes the right to a verdict not based on anything other than evidence of the crime. *Fuselier v. State*, 468 So.2d 45, 53 (Miss. 1985). It is the duty of the court to eliminate or, at the least, minimize outside influences. *Id.* A verdict that is based on anything other than evidence of the alleged crime is tainted and, where it is the result of bias, passion or prejudice, it cannot be allowed to stand. *Id.* 

During her testimony, the defense attorney sought to have a mistrial granted because she was so emotional. [Tr. 141-42]. However, at the time that the attorney made the motion, the judge did

nothing. The judge specifically told the attorney to wait until the next break to make his motion. [Tr. 142] The judge ignored his duty to contemporaneously instruct the jury to disregard Spann's emotional testimony. When the issue was actually argued before the judge, the jury had already left the courtroom. [Tr. 141] Even if the testimony was not enough to warrant a mistrial, the judge still had a duty to instruct the jury to disregard the overly emotional testimony so as to avoid any chance that something other than the evidence could influence the jury's verdict. However, there was no such warrantg.

The judge did not even allow for time for Spann to gain control of her emotions. In prior cases where emotional testimony was given and a motion was made for mistrial, the judge recessed the court so that the witnesses could compose themselves. *Chase v. State*, 645 So.2d 829, 848 (Miss. 1994); *See also Ladner v. State*, 584 So.2d 743, 753 (Miss. 1991) However, here the witness was allowed to continue to cry. The judge did not put the court in recess or give the witness time to compose herself but just continued to left her testify emotionally in front of the jury.

A fair trial cannot occur when the jury bases its verdict on anything besides the evidence presented. *Fuselier*, 468 So. 2d at 53. It is the duty of the judge to insure that such testimony is not presented to the jury without some form of immediate admonition, instructing the jury to not consider the witnesses' emotional display. The judge may even give the witness time to compose his or herself when there is emotional testimony. However in this case, the judge failed to give such admonition. The judge made no effort to ensure appropriate consideration of this case by the jury. Likewise, this court should reverse the trial court's verdict.

# II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT THE MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

In a criminal trial, the court may grant a new trial when the verdict is against the weight of the evidence. *Lee v. State*, 910 So. 2d 1123, 1125-26 (¶7) (Miss. Ct. App., 2005). A new trial is also warranted if new and material evidence has been recently discovered which would have produced a different result at the trial and the attorney would not have discovered the evidence with reasonable diligence. Miss. Unif. Rules of Cir. & Cty. Ct. Prac., Rule 10.05. In a motion for new trial, the court views the evidence in the light most favorable to upholding the jury's verdict, and the motion for new trial will only be granted when such a viewing reveals a manifest injustice to the defendant. *McNeal v. State*, 757 So.2d 1096, 1097-98 (Miss. App. 2000); *See also Williams v. State*, 763 So.2d 186, 187-88 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000), *Commodore v. State*, 994 So.2d 864, 870-71(Miss. Ct. App. 2008)

Whether or not a new trial should be granted is made on a case-by-case basis, taking into account all relevant factors and circumstances of the situation. *Thomas v. Mississippi Dept. of Public Safety*, 882 So.2d 789, 792 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). The trial court is responsible for determining if the evidence would change the result of a new trial. *Id. See also Townsel v. State*, 87 So.2d 481, 485 (Miss. 1956); *Smith v. State*, 492 So.2d 260, 263 (Miss. 1986). The scope of inquiry on appeal is simply whether or not the trial court abused its discretion when making its determination and determining whether the allegations were sufficiently proven. *Howell v. State*, 354 So.2d 1124, 1127 (Miss. 1978).

## Overwhelming Weight of the Evidence

Grave's guilty verdict in this case was contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Although there were several people present during the altercation between the brothers, the witnesses all provided various testimonies. The following chart is a synopsis of the trial testimonies.

	Witnesses Statements	
	Location when gun fired:	What witness saw:
<b>Kevin Preston</b> Defense's Witness	Despite prior statements to police, Kevin testified at trial that he was outside the Graves' house - standing near the brothers - at the time of the gun fired.	Kevin saw Paul come out of the house, without a gun, and walk toward AC. AC had a gun in his hand. The brothers started tussling and AC fell to the ground. The gun went off and shot AC. Kevin never saw Paul pull out a gun.
Minnie Graves Defense's Witness	Minnie was in her house, putting on her shoes at the time the gun fired. She was preparing to walk out of the front door of her house to meet AC and Paul.	Minnie sat on her couch, preparing to go outside, when Paul walked passed her and told her he would talk to AC. Paul did not have a weapon in his hand as he left. As Minnie put on her shoes, she heard two gunshots and ran outside. When she reached her front yard, Minnie witnessed AC laying on the ground.
<b>Paul Graves</b> Defendant	Paul was on the side of Minnie Graves' truck at the time the gun fired. The truck was located in the Grave's driveway - in the front yard of the home.	As Paul approached AC in the front yard, AC pushed Paul and the two brothers began tussling beside their mother's truck in the front yard. Paul testified at trial that he did not have a gun but AC had a gun in his hand. Paul struggled for control of the gun. Paul tried to get the gun away from AC when the gun fired.

	Witnesses Statements	
<b>Dwaninia Spann</b> State's Witness	Contrary to several witnesses statements', Dwaninia testified that she was outside of the Graves' home, approaching the front door, at the time the gun fired.	According to Spann, Paul came out of the house after AC arrived home and started arguing with AC. AC's back was against the truck the entire time and Paul was pushing AC against the truck. As Dwaninia headed to the door to get Minnie Graves, she heard a shot. When she turned around, she saw AC lying on the ground.
<b>Clyzell Smith</b> <i>State 's Witness</i>	Clyzell testified that, at the time the gun fired, he was standing in the yard next door to the Graves' home.	According to Clyzell, he was standing next door to the brothers, in his yard, when he noticed Paul come out of the house, cursing at AC. AC got out of the truck and brothers started fighting. Smith saw Paul raise his right arm and the gun fired at AC. AC fell to the ground and Smith ran over to help. Smith did not see how Paul got the gun in his hand.

The State greatly relied on Clyzell Smith's questionable testimony in requesting that the jury find Paul guilty of manslaughter. Clyzell testified that, from his vantage point in the yard next door, he saw Paul raise up the gun at arm's length away from AC and shoot AC in the neck. [Tr. 149]. Clyzell testified that, when the shooting occurred, the brothers were standing at the back end of Minnie Graves's truck and there was nothing obstructing his view of the brothers. [Tr. 151-52].

During cross-examination, Clyzell admitted that he could only see the driver's side and back of the truck. [Tr. 158] He testified that the shooting did not occur at the passenger side door of the truck. [Tr. 158] However, former Gulfport Police detective Charles Bodie, Jr. testified that the blood from the shooting was found centrally located in the front yard - about three feet and nine inches north of the right rear wheel of the truck. [Tr. 173] This was a few feet away from the passenger door and more toward the rear of the truck.

Clyzell's testimony is suspicious at best. Not only does he acknowledge that there was a truck separating him from the brothers, he attention to the details of the shooting is faulty, at best. Although he testified that he saw Paul raise and gun and the gun fired, he could not tell where the gun came from. [Tr. 150] Clyzell's testimony was too weak and tenuous to support a guilty verdict.

All the remaining evidence presented before the jury suggested that AC's death could not have been anything more than an accident.

First, several witnesses testified that it was AC, and not Paul, that had a gun in New Orleans -- just the night before the shooting. [Tr. 242]. Witnesses testified that it was AC that became drunk and belligerent in New Orleans, and even held a gun to his brother, Paul. Paul did not engage in the confrontation between his brother, rather he decided to leave the hotel and head back to Gulfport.

Furthermore, when Paul arrived at his house in Gulfport, he informed his mother about AC's erratic behavior. This gesture suggests that Paul took a proactive step to diffuse any situation that may occur between he and his brother once AC returned home.

Likewise, Paul's behavior once AC arrived home was also consistent with his claims that he did not ever intend to hurt his brother. Once AC arrived at the house, Paul went outside to meet him without any weapon.[Tr. 127, 274] Had Paul intended to harm AC, he had ample opportunity to arm himself with a weapon before he went to meet AC in the front yard that morning. Paul knew that AC possessed a weapon only hours before, while in the hotel in New Orleans. Surely Paul would have anticipated that AC would still have the same weapon when he got out of the car that morning.

Finally, AC died from one fatal gunshot wound to the neck. Little evidence is more

consistent with Paul's statements that this single fact. Paul did not raise the gun and shoot AC several times in a heat of passion, as the manslaughter verdict would suggest. Instead, after the gun fired, Paul fell to the ground and began wailing. He immediately told his mother that the shooting was an accident. Even after the police were called, Paul did not run or try to hide from the police. [Tr. 101, 108].

Newly Discovered Evidence

In order to overturn a verdict based on false testimony given at trial, the party moving for a new trial has to show that the perjury was material and that the result of the new trial would be different. *Williams v. State*, 669 So.2d 44, 54 (Miss. 1996); *See also Moore v. State*, 508 So.2d 666, 668-69 (Miss. 1987).

When proving that a witness actually committed perjury based on new evidence, Mississippi courts have used the following considerations:

The evidence must be able to change the verdict at a new trial, the evidence must have been discovered since the trial, the evidence could not have been discovered before the trial by the exercise of due diligence, the evidence must be material to the issue and cannot be merely cumulative or impeaching.

Golleher v. Robertson, 830 So.2d 694, 698 (¶ 11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). See also Meeks v. State, 781 So.2d 109, 112 (¶ 8) (Miss. 2001). McClendon v. State, 539 So.2d 1375, 1377 (Miss. 1989) The proponent of newly discovered evidence must satisfy all of the prerequisites from

Golleher and Meeks before a reversal will be granted. Witherspoon v. State, 767 So.2d 1065, 1067

(¶6) (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). See also Moore at 668., Black v. Stone Lumber Co., 63 So.2d 405, 407

(Miss. 1953)

The new evidence offered into the record via the affidavit of Paul Graves' sister, Waillene Jennings, would be able to change the verdict at a new trial. The version of the events that Jennings testified and swore to in her affidavit are consistent with the theory of the case that Paul Graves and the other defense witnesses presented. [Tr. 440-41]. Jennings' affidavit and her testimony clearly present evidence that Spann said she saw A.C., and not Paul, as the aggressor and that A.C., and not Paul, had possession of a weapon. This honorable Court has previously found that when new evidence substantially supports the defendant's theory of the case, the defendant's motion for new trial should be granted. *Hunt v. State*, 877 So.2d 503, 512-13 (¶ 51) (Miss. Ct. App., 2004)

During her trial testimony, Spann testified that Paul came out of the house quickly toward A.C. and that A.C. said something about Paul having a gun. [Tr. 117] This testimony obviously had some bearing on Paul's conviction. However if a new trial were to be granted where Jennings was allowed to testify as to what she was told by Spann at the hospital on the night of the incident, it is highly probable that a jury would reach a different verdict. Indeed if Spann's testimony were called into question, the state would be left with Clyzell Smith as its only "eyewitness." Smith's testimony is hardly enough to convict. Smith testified that he never saw who originally had the gun and admitted that he may not have been able to see Paul and A.C.'s entire argument. [Tr. 157, 161, 166] Furthermore, with doubt cast on Spann's testimony, Smith would have been the only witness whose testimony painted Paul as the aggressor. Smith's testimony would have to be weighed against that of Paul Graves, Kevin Preston, Waillene Jennings and Dwainina Spann. In light of the doubt cast on Spann's testimony by Waillene Jennings' affidavit and testimony, a different outcome at a new trial was highly likely, and thus, the **first** *Golleher* requirement is fulfilled.

Shortly after the trial ended, Paul's sister, Waillene Jennings, filed an affidavit, informing the defense attorney that Spann's trial testimony was inconsistent with her earlier statements to Paul's family. The submission of the affidavit after the trial ended meets the <u>second</u> *Golleher* requirement. [Tr. 446].

The evidence presented by Waillene Jennings would not have been uncovered by the due

diligence of Paul Graves' attorney. Jennings herself testified that she had no reason to believe that Spann would not offer testimony similar to the story that she had told on the night of the incident. [Tr. 446]. Consequently, since Jennings did not think Spann would offer different testimony, she had no reason to tell Graves' attorney about Spann's prior statements to her. Therefore the attorney was as diligent as he could be expected to be in such a situation ,and thus the <u>third</u> *Golleher* prerequisite is met.

The evidence presented by Waillene Jennings was material and not cumulative or impeaching. The standard for materiality is that if the evidence were disclosed to the defense, there is a probability sufficient to undermine the outcome of the proceeding that had the evidence been disclosed, the result of the trial would have been different. *Crawford v. State*, 867 So.2d 196, 204 ( $\P$  10) (Miss. 2003).

## III. THE TRIAL COURT DEPRIVED GRAVES OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FUNDAMENTALLY FAIR TRIAL BY EXCLUDING TESTIMONY OF AC'S PRIOR INCARCERATION, AS THE DEFENSE WAS UNABLE TO FULLY DEVELOP ITS THEORY OF DEFENSE.

The trial court deprived Graves of his constitutional right to a fundamentally fair trial when it prevented the defense from presenting testimony of AC Graves' previous incarceration.

The trial court erred by granting the state's motion in limine to exclude testimony regarding the prior convictions of A.C. Graves. In doing so, the trial court deprived Graves of his constitutional right to a fundamentally fair trial. "The focus of an appellate court's review of the conduct of a trial is limited to the consideration of whether the trial court, by one or more of its rulings, has committed an error of such magnitude that the appellant has been denied a fundamentally fair trial." *Allison v. State*, 724 So.2d 1014, 1018 (¶10) (Miss. Ct. App.1998)

According to the Mississippi Rules of Evidence, when a defendant claims to have acted in

self-defense, the court should allow inquiry into a victim's character to prove that the victim was the aggressor and that the defendant acted in self-defense. MRE 404 (a)(2). Furthermore, the Rules of Evidence authorize proof of specific instances of conduct when a trait of character of a person is an essential element of a charge, claim or defense. MRE 405 (b).

In this case, Paul Graves sought to show that he acted in self-defense in the altercation with his brother. In order to show that he acted in self-defense, Paul testified that he had previously been shot by his brother. However, because the state's motion in limine to exclude A.C.'s prior convictions was granted, the state was able to argue that the shooting, which occurred in the late 1990s, was too attenuated from the incident in question to be relevant. However if the motion had not been granted, Paul's lawyer's would have been able to show that within a year of Paul being shot by A.C., A.C. had gone to the federal penitentiary and that he had only returned from prison three or four weeks before the incident in question. This is hardly too attenuated of a time period when one takes into account the fact that the actual time that Paul was in contact with A.C. following the original shooting was a little over a year, due to A.C.'s time in jail. However, this defense was rendered useless by the court's granting of the motion in limine excluding A.C.'s prior bad acts.

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