# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### PAUL DAVID GRAVES, JR.

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-0282-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPELLANT

# **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

# JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

# BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. 101888

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Graves was not entitled to a mistrial based on a claim that witness Spann cried during her testimony. The trial court is in the best position to determine the prejudicial effect of allegedly emotional testimony. There has been no showing that the trial court abused its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial.

The verdict is not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Although there was conflict in witness testimony, the duty of resolving such conflict lies exclusively with the jury. The State's witnesses made out a case of manslaughter at a minimum. As such, the verdict does not represent an unconscionable injustice.

The trial court properly excluded evidence of A.C.'s prior incarceration. Prior crimes are inadmissible to show conformity therewith. Furthermore, the record does not indicated the nature of A.C.s prior conviction. Without such knowledge, the appellant cannot show the relevance of the excluded evidence.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. GRAVES WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A MISTRIAL BASED ON WITNESS SPANN'S ALLEGEDLY EMOTIONAL TESTIMONY.

During Spann's cross-examination, defense counsel asked to approach the bench. T. 127. The following bench conference was not reported. T. 127. At the conclusion of Spann's testimony, outside the presence of the jury, the trial court stated on the record that defense counsel had moved for a mistrial because Spann "became noticeably upset" during her testimony. T. 142. The trial court denied the motion. T. 142. Other than defense counsel's argument in support of his motion, the record contains no evidence of an emotional outburst by Spann.

The trial court's denial of a motion for mistrial is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Jordan v. State*, 995 So. 2d 94 (¶21) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). In *Chase v. State*, the victim's widow, Doris Hart, was a key State witness. 645 So. 2d 829, 848 (Miss. 1994). Hart became visibly upset and cried during her testimony. *Id.* Defense counsel's motion for mistrial was overruled. *Id.* The supreme court upheld the trial court's decision, citing the oft-quoted rule that the trial court is in the best position to determine the prejudicial effect of any incident which the appellant claims warrants a mistrial. *Id.* (*Ladner v. State*, 584 So.2d 753 (Miss. 1991)). The Court further noted that Hart was an eyewitness to the murder, and her testimony far more important than any potential prejudice which could have resulted from her emotional display. Finally, the supreme court agreed with the trial court's assessment that "It seems rather unfair to kill a woman's husband and then complain because she cries." *Id.* 

The same result was reached in *Walker v. State*, 671 So.2d 581 (Miss. 1995); Ladner v. State, 584 So.2d 743 (Miss.1991); and *Evans v. State*, 422 So.2d 737 (Miss.1982). In each of these cases, a State witness cried on the stand and defense counsel moved for a mistrial. In each case, the

reviewing court stated that the trial court was in the best position to determine whether the emotional outburst was so prejudicial as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial. The same result should be reached in the present case.

Graves also claims that even if a mistrial was not warranted, the trial court should have allowed Spann time to gain control of her emotions. However, as previously stated, the record does not reflect the length of time Spann allegedly cried or otherwise displayed emotion. In any event, Graves has failed to show that Spann's allegedly emotional testimony was so prejudicial as to warrant a mistrial. The jury's verdict was based on the overwhelming evidence of Graves' guilt and was not the result of passion or prejudice. Accordingly, Graves' first assignment of error must fail.

# **II.** THE JURY'S VERDICT IS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

Reviewing courts examine the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict in determining whether a verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (¶18) (Miss. 2005) (citing *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997)). A verdict will not be overturned based on a claim that the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence unless allowing the verdict to stand would sanction and unconscionable injustice. *Id*.

Graves is absolutely correct in noting that there were inconsistencies between the witnesses' versions of events. However, the jury has the exclusive duty of resolving any conflicts in witness testimony which may arise. *Moore v. State*, 969 So.2d 153, 156 (¶11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). Additionally, determinations of witness credibility lie within the sole province of the jury. *Id.* Graves was found guilty of heat of passion manslaughter, which means that the jury found that there was adequate provocation, but that Graves was not acting in self-defense or with authority of law

5

when he killed his brother. In addition to receiving a manslaughter instruction, Graves was granted a self-defense instruction and two accident instructions.

Smith and Preston testified that they actually saw the shooting, while Spann testified that she saw the events leading up to the shooting. According to Smith and Spann, Graves was armed and A.C. was unarmed during the fatal confrontation. T. 117-119, 141, 149-150. Preston claimed that it was A.C. who was armed in the front yard, not Graves. T. 256. However, Preston impeached himself during cross-examination, and admitted that he waited five years after the killing to ever mention that A.C. had a gun during the confrontation. Furthermore, although Preston testified for the defense, his testimony regarding the shooting was inconsistent with Graves' testimony. According to Graves, A.C. had the gun and, "I pushed him back, and we started tussling. Tussling with the gun, and got the gun and shot him." T. 326. Preston, on the other hand, claimed that A.C. had the gun during the entire argument, and "the gun shot" when A.C. fell. T. 254-56. Although Preston claimed to have witnessed the incident, he claimed Graves never had the gun, even though Graves admitted that he did.

Both Spann and Smith testified that Paul raised his arm and motioned with the gun throughout the argument. T. 117,127, 132, 141, 149-150. Spann described that fatal altercation as follows.

Paul walks out. He's walking fast toward us. AC doesn't see him because his back is still turned. Paul said, so, what, you calling me a coward. AC turned around and said, yeah, I called you a coward. Paul walked up on him and got in his face, and AC pushed him off and said, get off me.

And then Paul came back at AC, and he made a gesture like this. AC said, so what you got a gun, what you going to do with it, you going to kill me, I'm ready to die. So Paul just kept coming at AC, and AC kept pushing him off of him saying, get off of me....

AC's back is still against the truck. By this time he's at the back at the very end of the

Ct. App. 2005). Additionally neither cumulative evidence nor impeachment evidence is newly discovered evidence sufficient to warrant a new trial. *Carr v. State*, 873 So.2d 991, 997 (¶3) (Miss. 2004) (citing *Ormond v. State*, 599 So.2d 951, 962 (Miss. 1992)). Jennings' testimony fails every requirement of newly discovered evidence sufficient to warrant a new trial. Most obviously, the testimony could have been discovered, and in fact had been discovered, with the exercise of due diligence. It was no secret that Paul had a sister, and she had spoken with both Paul and his attorney about the case, specifically telling Paul's attorney that Spann thought the shooting was an accident. T. 445-46. The so-called newly discovered evidence is both cumulative and merely impeachment evidence. Jennings' testimony is hearsay which presents Spann's alleged opinion that the shooting was an accident, an opinion which Graves' presented at trial. Furthermore, even defense counsel admitted that the so-called newly discovered evidence was merely impeachment evidence. T. 448. As such, Jennings' suspect testimony does not warrant a new trial.

# III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SUPPRESSED EVIDENCE OF THE VICTIM'S PRIOR INCARCERATION.

Graves contends that the trial court erred in excluding evidence of the victim's previous incarceration. Evidence of other crimes is inadmissible to show conformity therewith, but may be admissible for other purposes. M.R.E. 404(b). Evidence of a victim's propensity for violence may be admitted if the defendant presents evidence that the victim was the initial aggressor in the fatal confrontation. *Robinson v. State*, 566 So.2d 1240, 1241 (Miss. 1990). It is for this reason that the trial court allowed Graves to testify that A.C. had shot him in the leg years earlier during an argument. However, the record does not reveal why A.C. was previously incarcerated. "Before a party may secure appellate reversal on an evidentiary exclusion, that party must have placed in the record the substance of the evidence he would have offered had the court ruled otherwise." *Russell* 

v. State, 607 So. 2d 1107, 1114 (Miss. 1992) (*Heidel v. State*, 587 So.2d 835, 844 (Miss. 1991)). If A.C. had been imprisoned due to an assault on Graves, then perhaps evidence of his incarceration may be admissible. If, however, A.C. had been convicted on drug charges, or even for a violent act toward a third person, such evidence would not be admissible. *Id.* at 1116. The fact that A.C. had been previously incarcerated, with absolutely no details about the incarceration, simply does not meet the relevancy requirement. M.R.E. 401.

Graves claims that the exclusion of evidence of A.C.'s prior conviction diminished the relevance of the fact that A.C. shot him two years prior to the killing. This argument was not made at trial, and Graves is procedurally barred from making this argument for the first time on appeal. *Jackson v. State*, 856 So.2d 412, 415(¶12) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). In fact, during the hearing outside the presence of the jury in which the trial court was asked to determine whether the evidence of the prior shooting was admissible, defense counsel specifically addressed the ruling on A.C.'s previous incarceration and acknowledge that the two issues were separate and distinct. At no time did defense counsel ever argue evidence of A.C.'s prior incarceration was necessary or in any way connected with evidence of the prior shooting. Furthermore, reversal will not be predicated on the exclusion of evidence unless a substantial right belonging to the defendant is violated by the exclusion. *Brown v. State*, 965 So.2d 1023, 1026(¶10) (Miss. 2007). The jury heard evidence that A.C. had previously shot Graves. Graves' claim that the relevance of this evidence was diminished because he was unable to tell the jury that immediately after this shooting A.C. was incarcerated and had only been out of prison a few weeks before the murder is purely speculative.

Graves also claims that the exclusion of evidence of A.C.'s prior incarceration precluded defense counsel from showing that was impossible for Paul to have retrieved a gun from his mother's house prior to shooting A.C. to death. Graves' rationale is that he and his mother would

have testified that a gun was not kept in the house because A.C. was a prior convicted felon. Again, this argument was never raised at trial and is procedurally barred. Furthermore, Graves' argument is disingenuous is because Ms. Graves testified that she kept a gun in her house since 1985, but it came up missing when A.C. started coming back to the house just weeks before the killing, implying that A.C. took the gun. T. 270-71. Additionally, Ms. Graves testified that immediately after the shooting she took her gun from Graves and brought it in the house. T. 277. To claim that the exclusion of A.C.'s prior incarceration prevented the defense from showing that a gun was not kept in the Graves' house is in direct conflict with the record testimony.

For the foregoing reasons, the trial court properly excluded evidence of A.C.'s prior incarceration. No substantial right belonging to Graves was effected by the exclusion of the evidence in question.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State asks this honorable Court to affirm Graves' conviction and sentence.